

Citrus Huanglongbing

Nian Wang^{1,2*} • Wenbin Li³ • Mike Irey⁴ • Gene Albrigo¹ • Kong Bo⁵ • Jeong-soon Kim¹

¹ Citrus Research and Education Center, University of Florida, 700 Experiment Station Road Lake Alfred, FL 33850, USA

² Department of Microbiology and Cell Science, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL 32611, USA

³ National Plant Germplasm and Biotechnology Laboratory USDA - APHIS-PPQ-CPHST BARC-East, Powder Mill Road, Bldg 580 Beltsville, MD 20705, USA

⁴ United States Sugar Corporation 111 Ponce de Leon Avenue Clewiston, Fl 33440, USA

5 Taian College, Taian, Shandong, China

Corresponding author: * nianwang@ufl.edu

ABSTRACT

Citrus Huanglongbing is one of the most devastating diseases of citrus. This disease is associated with a phloem-limited, non-cultured, Gram-negative alpha-proteobacteria: *Candidatus* Liberibacter spp. The pathogen causes blotchy mottle on the leaves, yellow shoots, stunted growth, tree decline, as well as lop-sided fruits. In this review, we attempt to present a compilation of the current research activities on the diagnosis, *in planta* distribution of the bacterium and symptomology, and host response to HLB pathogen infection.

Keywords: Citrus greening, virulence mechanism

CONTENTS

| INTRODUCTION | |
|---|----|
| DIAGNOSIS OF CITRUS HLB | 67 |
| Conventional PCR | |
| Real-time PCR | |
| IN PLANTA DISTRIBUTION AND SYMPTOMOLOGY | 68 |
| In planta distribution of Ca. L. asiaticus | 68 |
| HOST RESPONSE TO HLB INFECTION | 69 |
| Microarray analysis of host response of sweet orange to HLB infection | 69 |
| HLB infection results in phloem damage, plugging of sieve pores and interference with sucrose transport | 69 |
| CONCLUDING REMARKS | |
| REFERENCES | |
| | |

INTRODUCTION

Citrus Huanglongbing (HLB) has attracted tremendous attention due to the recent spread of the disease in two major citrus production areas: Brazil and the United States. Several excellent reviews have been published on the history, worldwide distribution, symptomology, psyllid transmission, as well as epidemiology of citrus HLB. The reader is referred to the following detailed studies: da Graça (1991), Halbert and Manjunath (2004), Bové (2006) and Gottwald *et al.* (2007). In this review, we attempt to present a compilation of the current research activities on the diagnosis, *in planta* distribution of the bacterium and symptomology, and host response to HLB infection.

HLB, also referred to as citrus greening, is one of the most destructive diseases of citrus, debilitating the productive capacity of citrus trees (Bové *et al.* 1974; da Graça and Korsten 2004), with losses of 30-100% reported (Schwarz 1967; Aubert 1993). The disease is widespread in most citrus areas of Asian countries, Africa, Brazil and most recently, Florida and Louisiana. HLB was found in Florida in 2005 and has spread throughout thirty of the citrus producing counties in Florida by January 2008. The newest discovery was in Louisiana, which was reported in June 2008. To date, HLB has not been found in other citrus growing regions in the U.S. e.g., Texas, California, and Arizona. However, *Diaphorina citri* Kuwayama, the vector of *Candidatus* Liberibacter asiaticus (Las), was reported in Texas in 2001 and had rapidly spread throughout the state by 2006. Psyllids have also recently been found in Tijuana, Mexico at the California border. With the vector present, the potential of HLB spread to other citrus production states is high (French *et al.* 2001; da Graça *et al.* 2006).

Circumstantial evidence indicates that HLB is caused by a fastidious phloem-limited α -proteobacteria in the genus, Candidatus Liberibacter, although Koch's postulates have not been completed due to the difficulty in culturing the bacterium. Ca. Liberibacter spp. are Gram negative based on evidence from electron micrographs, inhibition by a cell wall disrupting antibiotic, penicillin, as well as sequence analysis based on 16S rDNA, the β -operon and other limited DNA sequence information (Bové 2006). Three species of HLB-causing bacteria have been identified as Ca. L. asiaticus (Las), Ca. L. americanus (Lam), and Ca. L. africanus (Laf) that differ in their 16S rDNA sequence, and environmental tolerances. Among them, Las is the most wide-spread and virulent strain. A recent study by Lopes et al. indicated that a shift in species prevalence was observed in the citrus groves of Brazil over time, with an increase of Las and decrease of Lam (S. Lopes, pers. comm.).

The citrus HLB bacteria are vectored by either *D. citri* or *Trioza erytreae* Del Guercio (McClean and Oberholzer 1965; Capoor *et al.* 1967; Bové 2006).

DIAGNOSIS OF CITRUS HLB

The current management strategy for the control HLB is to remove infected citrus trees and reduce psyllid populations with insecticides. This strategy requires sensitive and reliable diagnostic methods.

Symptoms have been the most convenient way for diagnosis and are widely used in the field. Typical symptoms of HLB of infected trees include blotchy mottle and/or variegated chlorosis of leaves, pale yellow leaves and stunting. The leaves become upright, followed by leaf drop from the laminar or petiole abscission zones, and at later stages extensive twig dieback occurs (Bové 2006). Often small-sized, lop-sided, and bitter tasting fruits with aborted seeds are found on HLB-infected trees. However, these symptoms seem not to be Ca. Liberibacter spp. specific, since a Phytoplasma sp. was reported to cause very similar symptoms in citrus to HLB in Brazil (Teixeira et al. 2008b). It is also reported that Las can survive years in citrus before showing obvious symptoms. HLB symptoms also vary with environment and trees become less symptomatic under high temperature during the summer in Florida.

To overcome the shortcomings of symptom-based diagnosis, various detection methods have been developed in recent years. DNA probes, conventional and Real Time PCR assays, electron microscope, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) and biological indexing have been reported successful for diagnosis (Bové et al. 1993; Garnier and Bové 1993: Tian et al. 1996). Electron microscopy (EM) was the only reliable detection method for Liberibacters following the first EM observation of a "mycoplasma-like organism" in phloem tissues of HLB-infected citrus in 1970 (Laflèche and Bové 1970) until the first DNA probe specific to Liberibacters was designed in 1992 (Villechanoux et al. 1992). However, EM proved to be time-consuming and was unable to distinguish between the species of Liberibacter. A method based on the detection of a fluorescent gentiosyl-glucoside from infected fruits and bark was developed in 1968 (Schwarz 1968a) for confirmation of the disease. However, this method soon proved non-specific, since stressed trees also contained the same marker (Schwarz 1970). Biological indexing using plant indicators, such as sweet orange (Schwarz 1968b) and Ponkan mandarin (Matsumoto et al. 1968), was another confirmatory test of HLB. Monoclonal antibodies were raised for ELISA tests for the first time in 1987 (Garnier et al. 1987), but they were too isolate-specific to be used for general HLB detection. Two DNA probes specific to Las or Laf were later developed (Villechanoux et al. 1992), but the detection sensitivity of the dot-blot hybridization using these probes was similar to that of ÉM (Jagoueix et al. 1996). Recently, an iodine reaction (IR) kit was developed (Onuki et al. 2002) based on the elevated starch accumulation in HLB-diseased citrus leaves (Schneider 1968). However, the IR method is only a little better than the observation of visual symptoms of the disease. Diagnosis of HLB based on PCR methodology (Conventional PCR and Real Time PCR) has gained popularity when compared to other methods due to its sensitivity and reliability.

Conventional PCR

Since its first introduction by Kerry Mullis in 1983 (Mullis 1990) for which he won the Nobel Prize in 1993, PCR has become a powerful technique for the detection and identification of plant pathogens. The first set of 16S rDNA-based primers (OI1/OI2c and OA1/OI2c) was designed for conventional PCR to detect Las and Laf, yielding a fragment of 1160 bp in size (Jagoueix *et al.* 1996). A time-consuming enzyme digestion of the 1160 bp PCR product with *XbaI* was subsequently needed to distinguish between the two Liberibacter species. At the same time, one specific primer set was developed for detection of Las in China (Tian *et al.* 1996). In 1999, a second set of conventional PCR primers (A2/J5) were developed based on the β -operon ribosomal protein gene by Bové's group in France (Hocquellet *et al.*

1999). This set of primers allowed for the identification of the two Liberibacter species directly by separating the different sized amplicons generated by the primers (703 bp for Las and 669 bp for Laf). Also in 1999, another primer set was developed specific to Las based on DNA fragments obtained directly from HLB-infected citrus (Hung *et al.* 1999). This set of primers produces an amplicon of 226 bp and is specific only for strains of Las. Since none of the primer sets reacts with Lam (Teixiera *et al.* 2005), a new set of 16S rDNA-based specific primers (GB1/GB3) were developed, producing an amplicon of 1027 bp.

The universal 16S rDNA-based primer set fD1/rD1 (Weisburg *et al.* 1991) was used in the first round of the nested PCR assays to improve the detection sensitivity of conventional PCR assays with the 16S rDNA-based primer sets OI1/OI2c for Las (Deng *et al.* 2007) and GB1/GB3 for Lam (Teixeira *et al.* 2005). The primer set was also nested with another 16S rDNA-based primer set CGO3F/CGO5R for detection of Las in *Murraya paniculata* (Zhou *et al.* 2007). The loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) method was developed for detection of Liberibacters in laboratories without access to a thermal cycler (Okuda *et al.* 2005). Although the LAMP method is similar in sensitivity to conventional PCR assays, it is more vulnerable to contaminations than the later (Li *et al.* 2007).

Real-time PCR

Since Applied Biosystems (ABI) developed the first commercial real-time instrument in 1996 (Heid et al. 1996), real-time quantitative PCR (qPCR) has become the most accurate and sensitive method for the detection and quantification of nucleic acids yet devised (Shipley 2006). The first qPCR TaqMan probe Liberibacter detection was designed in 2004 (Liao et al. 2004) based on the 16S rDNA fragment amplified by the conventional PCR primer set OI1/OI2c (Jagoueix et al. 1996) from a HLB-infected citrus plant in Fujian, China. However, neither of the two primers BarF2 and Back2 is specific to Liberibacters. The amplicon produced by these two primers is 441 bp, which is out of the amplicon size range (50-250 bp) that is generally used for for real-time PCR (Wang and Seed 2006). This long amplicon resulted in decreased PCR efficiency and low detection sensitivity resulting in a detection limit of about 1,000 copies of template of cloned plasmid DNA per reaction.

In 2005, species-specific TaqMan probe-primer sets, HLBaspr, HLBafpr and HLBampr were developed for detection and identification of the three known species of Liberibacter in multiplex PCR with the positive internal control TaqMan probe-primer set COXfpr targeting the host plant cytochrome oxidase gene (Li et al. 2006a). The detection limits of the three HLB probe-primer sets are down to 1 to 10 copies of Liberibacter's 16S rDNA per reaction and their PCR efficiency is up to 99.90%. In addition, the detection limit and the PCR efficiency of the positive internal control probe-primer set COXfpr are almost the same as those of the HLB probe-primer sets, which allows for accurate estimation of the ratio of the Liberibacter DNA to the host plant DNA in total DNA extracts obtained from field samples. The HLBaspr set has been successfully applied in detection, identification and quantification of Las in host plants of citrus (Tatineni et al. 2008; Li et al. 2009) and in the psyllid vector (Manjunath et al. 2007). Recently, a very sensitive and stable positive internal control TaqMan probeprimer set WGfpr was successfully developed for real-time qPCR multiplexed with HLBaspr or HLBafpr or HLBampr for detection, identification and quantification of the three known species of Liberibacter in the psyllid vector (Li 2008).

Based on the β -operon protein gene of a DNA isolate obtained from HLB-infected citrus in Quangxi, China in 2006, a TaqMan probe-primer set CQULA04f/r/p10 was developed specifically for detection and quantification of Las. This probe and primer set has a similar PCR efficiency and sensitivity as the 16S rDNA-based HLBaspr (Li *et al.* 2006a). This primer pair has also been used in a SYBR Green real-time PCR (Wang *et al.* 2006). In 2008, another β -operon-based primer set was developed in Brazil for SYBR Green real-time PCR to study the distribution and quantification of Lam in citrus plants (Teixeira *et al.* 2008a). The PCR efficiency and sensitivity of this β -operon-based qPCR primer set are similar to those of the 16S rDNA-based TaqMan probe-primer set HLBaspr (Li *et al.* 2006a, 2007).

Recently a panel of 276 DNA extractions was sent to 13 different laboratories that are doing routine HLB diagnosis using a variety of methods and equipments. The methods used included conventional PCR with 16S rDNA primers and qPCR using 16S rDNA, β-operon primers, and unpublished putative DNA polymerase primers. Detection methodologies included ethidium bromide, TaqMan probes, and other fluorescent dye technologies. The samples included known HLB positive, known HLB negative, and a variety of field samples of unknown status. The results from the panel testing confirmed that under real-life testing conditions, the qPCR testing methodology was more sensitive than the conventional PCR. With the exception of labs that had specific reagent or equipment problems, all of the labs correctly identified the samples >93% of the time. However, most of the labs missed one or more of the positive samples and several of the labs had what were considered false positive results (i.e. positive results from the known negative samples). Thus, both false positive or false negative were observed among the labs. Within the labs using real time PCR systems and the same primers, there did not appear to be any difference between machines, reagents or detection systems. Similarly, there did not appear to be any differences in sensitivity for tests using primers based on different genome regions (16S, β -operon, or DNA polymerase nucleic acid sequences) (M. Irey et al. unpublished).

In summary, the current PCR methods have been very successful in the detection of the HLB bacterium. However, it should be noted that all the reported primers/probes are based on the very limited sequence data that were available at the time (16S rDNA, beta-operon, and DNA polymerase). False positive results have been reported (Tatineni et al. 2008; Teixeira et al. 2008a). It is probably due to the fact that all the sequences used are highly conserved. However, it is expected that primers/probes based on HLB specific genes will be available in the near future given the progress being made by several labs in HLB genome sequencing. The panel testing by the different labs and our previous work has indicated that there is always the possibility of false positive or false negative results using one single method. Thus, the use of a combination of different methods for final diagnosis is suggested (Tatineni et al. 2008).

IN PLANTA DISTRIBUTION AND SYMPTOMOLOGY

In planta distribution of Ca. L. asiaticus

Previous data indicated that the Las cells were unevenly distributed in different tissues of infected sweet orange trees (Tatineni et al. 2008). Las populations ranged from 14 to 137031 cells/µg total DNA in the various tissues, representing a 10,000-fold difference in bacterial population density. Uneven distribution has also been observed for Lam (Teixeira et al. 2008a). Las is found in most tissues of infected sweet orange trees including leaves, floral tissues (petals, pistils and stamens) and fruit tissues (peduncle, columella and seed coat). Even though no obvious symptoms were observed on floral parts, the HLB bacterium was detected in petals, pistils and stamens of flowers collected from infected trees. The HLB bacterium has been detected in small young fruit, and different fruit parts including peduncles, columella, and seed coat (Fig. 1). Seed transmission of the HLB bacterium has been suggested by Tirtawidjaja (1981). Further study is needed to address the seed transmission issue since the previous study on seed transmission was solely based on symptoms and was not confirmed with PCR and

other means. Other bacteria, such as *Xylella fastidiosa* (Li *et al.* 2003), *Erwinia stewartii* (Khan *et al.* 1996), and Phytoplasma (Jiang *et al.* 2004), have been found to be seed-born even though the potential mechanisms involved are still unclear. Detection of the citrus HLB pathogen inside the fruit and seed may have important implications in preventing the spread of the citrus HLB disease. The distribution pattern of Las *in planta* was similar to the causal agent of mulberry dwarf phytoplasma, which was found in leaves, flowers, fruit, seed coats, and roots (Christensen *et al.* 2004). This might be due to the fact that both the HLB bacterium and Phytoplasma are phloem limited bacteria.

It has been reported that Lam population varied from 4.6×10^5 to 1.1×10^8 /g, with an average value of 2.7×10^7 /g in blotchy mottle sweet orange leaves (Lopes pers. comm.). Compared to Lam, preliminary data indicate that Las seems to reach a higher population level in the symptomatic leaves ranging from 4.37×10^7 to 3.38×10^8 /g with an average of 1.94×10^8 (Wang, unpublished). This may be one reason why Las is more virulent than Lam (Lopes pers. comm.).

Symptomatic leaves seem to have a higher concentration of the Las bacterium than that of non-symptomatic leaves. This confirms observations made from earlier EM observations of symptomatic and asymptomatic midribs (Bové 2006). Higher Lam populations were also observed in symptomatic leaves in Brazil (Teixeira et al. 2008a). This might suggest that a threshold Las concentration is required for symptom development. It should be pointed out, however, that those population studies are based on genomic DNA copies in planta. It has been known that genomic DNA can be stable from several days to three weeks after cell death (Josephson et al. 1993; Masters et al. 1994). Consequently, quantitative analysis of bacterial populations based on total DNA can be overestimating the level of bacteria present (Nocker and Camper 2006). Efforts should be made to differentiate between dead and alive bacterial cells in the future.

The citrus HLB pathogen can move from the inoculation site to different parts of the plant. Las was detected in sink organs, such as young leaves, fruit, flowers, and roots from infected citrus trees in citrus groves, which is a good indication of its direction of movement within the phloem. With the only source of infection being a graft inoculation, greenhouse experiments clearly indicate that Las can move from the inoculation site to different parts of the tree, demonstrating the systemic movement of pathogen from the site of infection to different parts of the plant (Tatineni et al. 2008). Detection of Las inside the bark tissue, leaf midribs and roots from infected citrus trees clearly also suggest that the pathogen is transferred systemically through the continuous sieve tube system. The detection of the HLB bacterium in roots may explain why many symptomless trees pruned to the stump level developed HLB symptoms in new growth flushes (Lopes *et al.* 2007; Tatineni *et al.* 2008). The citrus HLB pathogen is about 2 µm long and 0.2 µm in diameter (Bové 2006). The pores on the sieve plates range from a fraction of a micron to about 14 µm (Easu and Cheadle 1959). Observation with EM indicated that Ca. Liberibacter spp. can move through the sieve plate pore in periwinkle, although no such observation has been made in citrus (Brlansky pers. comm.). It seems that the pathogen can move freely through the sieve pores along with the assimilate flow from leaves to sugar consuming plant organs, as has been observed with phytoplasma (Christensen et al. 2004; Jiang et al. 2004). However, it is not known whether the citrus HLB bacterium can pass through the pore-plasmodesmata unit between sieve elements and the companion cells, since they are much smaller (Christensen et al. 2004). Interestingly, phytoplasmas were documented in both companion cells and phloem parenchyma cells even though the mechanism of movement into phloem-related cells remains unknown (Siller et al. 1987; Li et al. 2007).

HOST RESPONSE TO HLB INFECTION

Microarray analysis of host response of sweet orange to HLB infection

The Affymetrix citrus microarray, which contains around 33,000 citrus probe sets from several citrus species and hybrids, was used by two groups including the senior author to characterize the host response of sweet orange to HLB infection under greenhouse conditions (Albrecht and Bowman 2008; Kim et al. 2009). It is unlikely that the entire C. sinensis transcriptome is represented on the array since the genome sequence of C. sinensis is still incomplete. Despite this, the array provides the most powerful tool to date for exploring global citrus gene expression. Both groups have found that HLB has tremendous effect on host gene expression. Interestingly, HLB seems to have more effect on the plant at later stages than the early stage of infection, since only 279 genes were differentially expressed 5-9 weeks after inoculation while 515 genes were differentially expressed 13-17 weeks after inoculation (cutoff $\log 2 = \pm 2$ m; FDR ≤ 0.05) (Albrecht and Bowman 2008). In our study, the expression of a total of 624 genes was significantly changed: 307 genes were up-regulated and 317 genes down-regulated (cutoff log2 = \pm 1.5; FDR ≤ 0.05) eight months after inoculation in the greenhouse. The host genes that showed changes in expression pattern induced by Las infection were related to plant pathogenesis/stress, anthocyanin biosynthesis, cell wall metabolism, cell division, detoxification, lipid metabolism, metabolite transport, metal transport, nucleotide metabolism, phenylpropanoid/flavonoid/terpenoid metabolism, phytohormones, protein kinase, protein metabolism, protein-protein interaction, signal transduction, sugar metabolism, transcription/translation factors and unknown/hypothetical genes. The broad range of host genes affected by Las infection suggests profound disturbances in plant metabolism. In the categories of cell cycle, cell wall metabolism, lipid metabolism, nucleotide metabolism and protein kinase, the majority of genes in a functional category were downregulated in inoculated trees. In contrast, the majority of functional category genes associated with metal transport and signal transduction were mostly up-regulated (Kim et al. 2009). Approximately 5% of the genes with altered expression patterns were related to pathogenesis or stress. This suggests that Las survives in the phloem by disrupting the plant defense system. Alteration of host defenses, including the basal defense pathways, gene-for-gene resistance and non-host resistance, was shown to be critical for pathogennesis by Pseudomonas syringae (Nomura et al. 2005).

It was shown that genes associated with stress or abiotic and biotic stimulus were not induced greater than four-fold 5-9 weeks after inoculation (Albrecht and Bowman 2008). Only a few genes, such as the genes encoding a bacterialinduced peroxidase precursor, lipoxygenase and heat shock protein were induced greater than four-fold 13-17 weeks after inoculation (Albrecht and Bowman 2008). These findings suggest that the host could not effectively suppress the pathogen and resulted in the compatibility of HLB pathogen with sweet orange. A comparison of HLB-infected plant and healthy plants showed more changes in plant defense related genes. Over 10% of the genes significantly regulated in plants infected with Las were related to plant defense and stress. Among these were genes whose encoded products were classified as pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins, such as chitinase, PR-1 precursor, disease resistanceresponsive protein, blight-associated protein p12 precursor, disease-resistance protein, PR protein 4A, and Avr9 Cf-9 elicited protein 111B. Approximately half of the PR genes were up-regulated by Las infection. Interestingly, one gene encoding blight-associated protein P12 precursor was upregulated. The function of P12 is still unknown and has been suggested to play a role in the host response to citrus blight (Derrick and Timmer 2000). The up-regulation of PR genes in the host may be an indication of the activation of defense mechanisms that lead to processes, such as callose

deposition in and around phloem tissues. Several defenseassociated transcription factors that bind to promoter elements of individual defense-related genes were also up-regulated including WRKY4, WRKY6 (Eulgem 2000; Dong *et al.* 2003; Kalde 2003), ERF-1, ERF-2 (Gutterson and Reuber 2004), TGA (Jakoby et al. 2002; Krawczyk et al. 2002), and R2R3-MYB (Kranz et al. 1998; Stracke et al. 2001). Approximately half of the PR genes were downregulated by Las infection. Numerous PR genes were also up- or down-regulated in both virulent and avirulent Pseudomonas syringae infections in Arabidopsis (Tao et al. 2003). It has been suggested that PR genes are up-regulated in a more intense and/or accelerated manner during the in-compatible interaction (Maleck *et al.* 2000). Suppression of host defenses, including basal defense, gene-for-gene resistance and non-host resistance was shown to be critical for pathogenesis (Nomura et al. 2005). Both the transcriptional profiles of sweet orange to HLB infection at early or later stages indicated that Las can escape or defeat the plant defense system and survive in the phloem (Albrecht and Bowman 2008; Kim et al. 2009).

Starch has been shown to accumulate in leaves of HLBinfected plants (Schneider 1968; Bové 2006). Over 4% of the genes with significantly altered regulation in Las-inoculated plants were related to sugar metabolism, such as starch synthesis and degradation. In plants, four major enzymes control starch biosynthesis; ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase (AGPase), starch synthase, granule-bound starch synthase and starch debranching enzyme (Zeeman et al. 2007). The rate-limiting enzyme is AGPase, which converts glucose-phosphate to ADP-glucose in the presence of ATP. ADP-glucose then is polymerized into α (1,4)-linked chains (α -amylose) by multiple isoforms of starch synthase. Granule-bound starch synthase catalyzes the addition of glucose units to form an essentially linear polymer of α -amylose with very few branches (Nakamura et al. 1995). Branching of amylopectin is the result of the balanced activities of starch-branching enzymes and starch-debranching enzymes. Three of the four starch synthesis genes, AGPase, starch synthase and granule-bound starch synthase were upregulated in HLB infected citrus leaves. The induction of AGPase was also observed (Albrecht and Bowman 2008). Interestingly, genes directly associated with photosynthesis were not influenced by HLB infection. The up-regulation of key starch biosynthetic genes in photosynthesis, together with restricted movement of photosynthates from leaves due to phloem plugging, is postulated to lead to the accumulation of starch in HLB infected leaves (Fig. 1) (Kim et al. 2009).

Phloem plugging has been demonstrated in HLB-infected plants (Schneider 1968; Bové 2006; Kim et al. 2009). Mechanisms of sieve pore plugging can involve phloem protein 1 (PP1), PP2 and callose (Knoblauch and van Bel 1998; Dinant et al. 2003). PP2, a dimeric poly-GlcNAc-binding lectin, covalently cross-links with PP1 via disulphide bonds, forming polymers that closed sieve pores (Read and Northcote 1983). This response is normally accompanied by the synthesis of the β -1,3-glucan callose (McNairn and Currier 1968). The pp2 gene was highly up-regulated in HLBinfected leaves, and the protein product likely contributed to phloem blockage (together with callose deposition) observed in micrographs (Fig. 1). Additionally, PP2 has been suggested to interact with a variety of putative signaling RNAs (Gomez and Pallas 2001; Owens et al. 2001) and as such may interfere with communication between source and sink organs and nutrient transport. A similar result was reported on the induction of *pp2* gene (Albrecht and Bowman 2008).

HLB infection results in phloem damage, plugging of sieve pores and interference with sucrose transport

Schneider has done a very comprehensive study of the anatomical changes that result from greening infection with Laf. In his study, the midribs of uninoculated and HLB-infected



Plugged sieve pore

Fig. 1 Anatomical analysis of midrib phloem tissues of Huanglongbing (HLB) pathogen infected and healthy sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis***).** Light micrograph (LM) of methylene blue-azure A and basic fuschin staining (**A** and **B**): staining shows thickened and disrupted cell walls of phloem tissues of affected citrus (**A**) compared to the healthy control (**B**). Starch particles stained red (**A**) are also observed in the mesophyll parenchyma cells of the HLB infected plant only. The callose staining of citrus midrib in 0.05% aniline blue solution observed under a fluorescent microscope with UV filter (**C** and **D**). Light areas reveal callose in the phloem. The infected midrib is full of callose in the phloem tissue (**C**) while the healthy control does not show light staining of callose (**D**). Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) of phloem tissue (**E**, **F**, and **G**). Cell walls are thicker and disrupted and sieve pores are plugged in the HLB infected plant (**E** and **F**) while not in the healthy plant (**G**).

sweet orange leaves were stained using the general polychromatic/complex carbohydrate staining procedure with methylene blue-azure A and Basic Fuschin (Schneider 1981) and observed with light microscopy. Recently, a detailed study was conducted to compare the process of leaf chlorosis and phloem collapse due to different causes using a similar methodology (Albrigo unpublished). HLB affected leaves were compared to nutrient deficient, chlorotic and healthy leaves using light and transmission electron microscopy. The major symptoms in leaves indicative of HLB disease were asymmetrical chlorosis, starch accumulation and phloem necrosis. Large amounts of starch accumulated in the mesophyll, epidermal, oil glands and vascular bundle parenchyma in leaves from the HLB pathogen infected trees (Fig. 1A and 1B). This is consistent with the up-regulation of three major starch synthesis genes. Starch accumulation occurred first in the spongy mesophyll and then in the palisade layer. The outer membranes of the chloroplasts were always retained, with no evidence of rupturing, even with large accumulations of internal starch. As starch accumulated, the internal membranes of the plastids degenerated. Sieve plates in necrotic phloem were found to be totally occluded by an amorphous plugging material, similar to callose (Fig. 1C and 1D) and a filamentous plugging material, which may contain significant amounts of P-protein-like material, occluded whole sieve elements. Phloem collapse and necrosis were observed in the petiole, mid-vein and minor vein branches in HLB affected leaves (Fig. 1E-G). Phloem necrosis was also observed in asymptomatic leaves before starch accumulation and chlorosis. In contrast to HLB, necrosis of the phloem in Zn and Fe deficient leaves was found to occur after the development of chlorosis.

TEM analysis has proven to be very useful in the study the HLB bacteria in phloem. In all midrib samples observed by TEM, when present, Las existed as single cells and did not form visible aggregates in the phloem. Furthermore, no plug composed of Las cells was observed in phloem sieve pores. Given the size of a Las cell, it is unlikely that a single bacterium could plug a sieve pore since a bacterium is approximately 2 μ m long and 0.1-0.2 μ m in diameter (Laflèche and Bové 1970) while sieve plates pores range from less than 1 μ m to about 14 μ m (Easu and Cheadle 1959). Consequently, it is unlikely that the Las physically caused phloem blockage because multiple bacterial cells were not aggregated. Probably, the blockage is caused by the host response in the phloem that results in sieve pore plugging.

Las causes similar symptoms and host response in citrus as *Phytoplasma* spp., even though Las is Gram negative while *Phytoplasma* spp. are mollicutes and lack cell walls. In Brazil, it was reported that a phytoplasma closely related to the Pigeon pea witches's broom phytoplasma (16Sr IX) can cause similar symptoms as HLB on sweet orange (Teixeira 2008b). This is probably due to the fact that both pathogens colonize phloem sieve tubes and disrupt host mechanisms which eventually disrupt phloem transportation and therefore cause similar disease symptoms.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Ninety years have passed since citrus HLB was first reported in southern China (Bové 2006). Citrus HLB has spread to most citrus producing areas of the world. The major impediment to citrus HLB research has been the difficulty of in vitro cultivation of the HLB organism, which is fundamental to understanding microbial physiology, morphology, genetics, and its virulence mechanism. Recently, Las was cultured in vitro (Davis et al. 2008). It was co-cultured with other bacteria closely related to Propionibacterium acnes. Separation of the two organisms in culture into two monocultures has not yet been achieved and Koch's postulates have not been completed. Further effort is needed to culture Las in vitro. HLB genomic DNA from the co-culture should help with the current genome sequencing. When obtained, the genome sequence of Las will help elucidate the biological characteristics of this citrus pathogen and the mechanisms of pathogenicity and insect-transmissibility. Hopefully, it will help in the development of effective ways of managing this devastating disease of citrus. Culturing and genome sequencing of the HLB bacterium are the two critical stepping stones for further study of citrus HLB disease.

REFERENCES

- Albrecht U, Bowman KD (2008) Gene expression in Citrus sinensis (L.) Osbeck following infection with the bacterial pathogen Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus causing Huanglongbing in Florida. Plant Science 175, 291-306
- Aubert B (1993) Citrus greening disease, a serious limiting factor for citriculture in Asia and Africa. In: Proceedings of the 4th Congress of the International Society of Citrus Nurserymen, South Africa, pp 134-142
- Bové JM, Calavan EC, Capoor SP, Cortez RE, Schwarz RE (1974) Influence of temperature on symptoms of California stubborn, South African greening, Indian citrus decline and Philippines leaf mottling diseases. In: *Proceedings of 6th Conference IOCV, IOCV*, Riverside, 1974, pp 12-15
- Bové JM, Garnier M, Ahlawat YS, Chakraborty NK, Varma A (1993) Detection of the Asian strains of the greening BLO by DNA-DNA hybridization in Indian orchard trees and Malaysian *Diaphorina citri* psyllids. In: Proceedings of 12th Conference IOCV, IOCV, Riverside, 1993, pp 258-263
- Bové JM (2006) Huanglongbing: a destructive, newly-emerging, century-old disease of citrus. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 88, 7-37
- Capoor SP, Rao DG, Viswanath SM (1967) Diaphorina citri Kuway., a vector of the Huanglongbing disease of citrus in India. Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences 37, 572-576
- Christensen NM, Nicolaisen M, Hansen M, Schulz A (2004) Distribution of phytoplasmas in infected plants as revealed by real-time PCR and bioimaging. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 17, 1175-1184
- da Graça JV (1991) Citrus greening disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology 29, 109-136
- da Graça JV, Korsten L (2004) Citrus huanglongbing: review, present status and future strategies. In: Naqvi SAMH (Ed) *Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables* (Vol I), Klumer Academic, The Netherlands, pp 229-245
- da Graça JV, French JV, Skaria M, Sétamou M (2006) Citrus psyllid and greening survey. Citrus Center Newsletter 24 (6), 1-2
- Davis MJ, Mondal SN, Chen H, Rogers ME, Brlansky RH (2008) Co-cultivation of *Candidatus* Liberibacter asiaticus' with *Actinobacteria* from Citrus with Huanglongbing *Plant Disease* **92**, 1547-1550
- Deng X, Zhou G, Li H, Chen J, Civerrolo EL (2007) Detection of Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus from Wampee (*Clausena lansium* Skeels) by nested PCR. Online. *Plant Healthy Progress*

- Derrick KS, Timmer LW (2000) Citrus blight and other diseases of recalcitrant etiology. Annual Review of Phytopathology 38, 181-205
- Dinant S, Clark AM, Zhu Y, Vilaine F, Palauqui J-C, Kusiak C, Thompson GA (2003) Diversity of the superfamily of phloem lectins (phloem protein 2) in angiosperms. *Plant Physiology* 131, 114-128
- Dong J, Chen C, Chen Z (2003) Expression profiles of the Arabidopsis WRKY gene superfamily during plant defense response. *Plant Molecular Biology* 51, 21-37
- Easu K, Cheadle VI (1959) Size of pores and their contents in sieve elements of dicotyledons. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 45, 156-162
- Eulgem T, Rushton PJ, Robatzek S, Somssich IE (2000) The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. *Trends in Plant Science* 5, 199-206
- French JV, Kahlke C, da Graça JV (2001) Asian psyllid found on Texas citrus. Citrus Center 19, 1
- Garnier M, Bové JM (1993) Citrus greening disease and the greening bacterium. In: *Proceedings of 12th Conference IOCV, IOCV, Riverside*, 1993, pp 212-219
- Garnier M, Martin-Gros C, Bové JM (1987) Monoclonal antibodies against the bacterial-like organism associated with citrus greening disease. *Annales de L'Institut Pasteur-Microbiologie* **138**, 639-659
- Gomez G, Pallas V (2001) Identification of an *in vitro* ribonucleoprotein complex between a viroid RNA and a phloem protein from cucumber plants. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 14, 910-913
- Gottwald TR, da Graça JV, Bassanezi RB (2007) Citrus huanglongbing: the pathogen and its impact. Online. *Plant Health Progress*
- Gutterson N, Reuber TL (2004) Regulation of disease resistance pathways by AP2/ERF transcription factors. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 7, 465-471
- Halbert SE, Manjunath KL (2004) Asian citrus psyllids (*Sternorrhyncha: psyllidae*) and greening disease of citrus: a literature review and assessment of risk in Florida. *Florida Entomologist* **87**, 330-353
- Heid CA, Stevens J, Livak KJ, Williams PM (1996) Real-time quantitative PCR. Genome Research 6, 986-994
- Hocquellet A, Bové JM, Garnier M (1999) Isolation of DNA from the uncultured "Candidatus Liberobacter" species associated with citrus huanglongbing by RAPD. Current Micriobiology 38, 176-182
- Hung TH, Wu ML, Su HJ (1999) Development of a rapid method for the diagnosis of citrus greening disease using the polymerase chain reaction. *Journal* of Phytopathology 147, 599-604
- Jakoby M, Weisshaar B, Droge-Laser W, Vicente-Carbajosa J, Tiedemann J, Kroj T, Parcy F (2002) bZIP transcription factors in Arabidopsis. Trends in Plant Science 7, 106-111
- Jiang H, Wei W, Saiki T, Kawakita H, Watanabe K, Sato M (2004) Distribution patterns of mulberry dwarf phytoplasma in reproductive organs, winter buds, and roots of mulberry trees. *Journal of General Plant Pathology* 70, 168-173
- Jagoueix S, Bové JM, Garnier M (1996) PCR detection of the two 'Cabdidatus' liberobacter species associated with greening disease of citrus. *Molecular* and Cellular Probes 10, 43-50
- Josephson KL, Gerba CP, Pepper LL (1993) Polymerase chain reaction detection of nonviable bacterial pathogens. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 59, 3513-3515
- Kalde M, Barth M, Somssich IE, Lippok B (2003) Members of the Arabidopsis WRKY group III transcription factors are part of different plant defense signaling pathways. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 16, 295-305
- Khan A, Ries SM, Pataky JK (1996) Transmission of *Erwinia stewartii* through seed of resistant and susceptible field and sweet corn. *Plant Disease* 80, 398-403
- Kim J, Sagaram US, Burns JK, Wang N (2009) Response of sweet orange (*Citrus sinensis*) to *Candidatus* Liberibacter asiaticus infection: microscopy and microarray analyses. *Phytopathology* **99**, 50-57
- Knoblauch M, van Bel AJE (1998) Sieve tubes in action. *Plant Cell* 10, 35-50 Kranz HD, Denekamp M, Greco R, Jin H, Leyva A, Meissner RC, Petroni
- Kranz HD, Denekamp W, Greco K, Jin H, Leyva A, Meissner KC, Felrom K, Urzainqui A, Bevan M, Martin C, Smeekens S, Tonelli C, Paz-Ares J, Weisshaar B (1998) Towards functional characterization of the members of the R2R3-MYB gene family from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Journal* 16, 263-276
- Krawczyk S, Thurow C, Niggeweg R, Gatz C (2002) Analysis of the spacing between the two palindromes of activation sequence-1 with respect to binding to different TGA factors and transcriptional activation potential. *Nucleic Acids Research* 30, 775-781
- Laflèche D, Bové JM (1970) Mycoplasma type structures in orange leaves of greening disease. Comptes Rendus des Séances de'l Academie des Sciences, Paris, Serie, D 270, 1915-1917
- Li W, Pria WD Jr., Lacava PM, Qin X, Hartung JS (2003) Presence of *Xy-lella fastidiosa* in sweet orange fruit and seed and its transmission to seed-lings. *Phytopathology* **93**, 953-958
- Li W, Hartung JS, Levy L (2006a) Quantitative real-time PCR for detection and identification of *Candidatus* Liberibacter species associated with citrus huanglongbing. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **66**, 104-115
- Li W, Hartung JS, Levy L (2007) Evaluation of DNA amplification methods for improved detection of "*Candidatus* Liberibacter species" associated with citrus huanglongbing. *Plant Disease* **91**, 51-58

- Li W, Duan Y, Brlansky RH, Twieg E, Levy L (2008) Incidence and population of '*Candidatus* Liberibacter asiaticus' in Asian citrus psyllids (*Diaphorina citri*) on citrus plants affected by huanglongbing in Florida. International Research Conference Huanglongbing, Orlando, FL, Decemebr 1-5, 2008, in press
- Li W, Levy L, Hartung JS (2009) Quantitative distribution of candidates Liberibacter asiaticus in citrus plants with citrus huanglongbing. *Phytopathology* 98, 139-144
- Liao XL, Zhu SF, Zhao WJ, Luo K, Qi YX, Chen HY, He K, Zhu XX (2004) Cloning and sequencing of citrus huanglongbing pathogen 16S rDNA and its detection by real-time PCR. *Journal of Agricultural Biotechnology* 12, 80-85
- Lopes SA, Frare GF, Yamamoto PT, Ayres AJ, Barbosa JC (2007) Ineffectiveness of pruning to control citrus huanglongbing caused by *Candidatus* Liberibacter americanus. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 119, 463-468
- Maleck K, Levine A, Eulgem T, Morgan A, Schmid J, Lawton KA, Dangl JL, Dietrich RA (2000) The transcriptome of *Arabidopsis thaliana* during systemic acquired resistance. *Nature Genetics* 26, 403-410
- Manjunath KL, Halbert SE, Ramadugu C, Webb S, Lee RF (2007) Detection of 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus' in *Diaphorina citris* and its importance in the management of citrus huanglongbing in Florida. *Phytopathology* 98, 387-396
- Masters CI, Shallcross JA, Mackey BM (1994) Effect of stress treatments on the detection of Listeria monocytogenes and enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* by the polymerase chain reaction. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 77, 73-79
- Matsumoto T, Su HJ, Lo TT (1968) Likunin. In: Indexing Procedures for 15 Virus Diseases of Citrus, USDA Agricultural Research Services Handbook, No. 333, pp 63-67
- McClean APD, Oberholzer PCJ (1965) Citrus psylla, a vector of greening disease of sweet orange. South African Journal of Agricultural Science 8, 297-298
- McNairn RB, Currier HB (1968) Translocation blockage by sieve plate callose. *Planta* 82, 369-380
- Mullis KB (1990) Target amplification for DNA analysis by the polymerase chain reaction. Annales de Biologie Clinique (Paris) 48, 579-582
- Nakamura T, Yamamori M, Hirano H, Hidaka S, Nagamine T (1995) Production of waxy (amylose-free) wheats. *Molecular and General Genetics* 248, 253-259
- Nocker A, Camper AK (2006) Selective removal of DNA from dead cells of mixed bacterial communities by use of ethidium monoazide. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 72, 1997-2004
- Nomura K, Melotto M, He SY (2005) Suppression of host defense in compatible plant-Pseudomonas syringae interactions. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 8, 361-368
- Okuda M, Matsumoto M, Tanaka Y, Subandiyah S, Iwanami T (2005) Characterization of the *tufB0secE-nusG-rplKAJLB* gene cluster of the citrus greening organism and detection by loop-mediated isothermal amplification. *Plant Disease* **89**, 705-711
- Onuki M, Truc NTN, Hong LTT (2002) Useful histological method for distinguishing citrus yellowing leaves infected with huanglongbing from those caused by other factors. In: Proceedings of the 2002 Annual Workshop of JIRCAS Mekong Delta Project, pp 114-118
- Owens RA, Blackburn M, Ding B (2001) Possible involvement of the phloem lectin in long-distance viroid movement. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 14, 905-909
- Read SM, Northcote DH (1983) Subunit structure and interactions of the phloem proteins of *Cucurbita maxima* (pumpkin). *European Journal of Biochemistry* 134, 561-569
- Schneider H (1968) Anatomy of greening diseased sweet orange shoots. *Phytopathology* 58, 1155-1160
- Schneider H (1981) Plant cytology. In: Clark G (Ed) Staining Procedures for Biological Stain Commission, Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, pp 339
- Schwarz RE (1967) Results of a greening survey on sweet orange in the major citrus growing areas of the Republic of South Africa. South African Journal of Agricultural Science 10, 471-476
- Schwarz RE (1968a) Indexing of greening and exocortis through fluorescent marker substance. In: Price WC (Ed) Proc 4th IOCV, University of Florida Press, Gainsville, pp 118-124
- Schwarz RE (1968b) The distribution of greening in citrus areas of South Africa. In: Price WC (Ed) *Proceedings of the 4th IOCV*, University of Florida Press, Gainesville, pp 124-127
- Schwarz RE (1970) Comparative indexing of the annual and seasonal incidence of greening in sweet orange fruits by external symptoms and by the albedo fluorescence test. *Phytophylactica* 2, 1-16
- Shipley GL (2006) An introduction to real-time PCR. In: Dorak MT (Ed) Realtime PCR, Taylor & Francis Group, New York, pp 1-31
- Siller W, Kuhbandner B, Marwitz R, Petzold H, Seemüller E (1987) Occurrence of mycoplasma-like organisms in parenchyma cells of *Cuscuta odorata* (Ruiz et Pav.). *Journal of Phytopathology* 119, 147-159
- Stracke R, Werber M, Weisshaar B (2001) The R2R3-MYB gene family in Arabidopsis thaliana. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 4, 447-456
- Tao Y, Xie Z, Chen W, Glazebrook J, Chang HS, Han B, Zhu T, Zou G, Katagiri F (2003) Quantitative nature of *Arabidopsis* responses during compatible and incompatible interactions with the bacterial pathogen *Pseudomo-*

nas syringae. Plant Cell 15, 317-330

- Tatineni S, Sagaram US, Gowda S, Robertson, CJ, Dawson WO, Iwanami T, Wang N (2008) In plant distribution of 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus' as revealed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and real-time PCR. Phytopathology 98, 592-599
- Teixeira DC, Ayres J, Danet JL, Jagoueix-Eveillard S, Saillard C, Bové JM (2005) First report of a huanglongbing-like disease of citrus in São Paulo, Brazil, and association of a new Liberibacter species, "*Candidatus* Liberibacter americanus" with the disease. *Plant Disease* **89**, 107
- Teixeira DC, Saillard C, Couture C, Martins EC, Wulff NA, Jagoueix-Eveillard S, Yamamoto PT, Ayres AJ, Bové JM (2008) Distribution and quantification of *Candidatus* Liberibacter americanus, agent of huanglongbing disease of citrus in São Paulo State, Brazil, in leaves of an infected sweet orange tree as determined by PCR. *Molecular and Cellular Probes* 22, 139-150
- Teixeira DC, Wulff NA, Martins EC, Kitajima EW, Bassanezi R, Ayres AJ, Eveillard S, Saillard C, Bové JM (2008) A phytoplasma closely related to the pigeon pea witches'-broom phytoplasma (16Sr IX) is associated with Citrus huanglongbing symptoms in the state of São Paulo, Brazil. *Phytopathology* 9, 977-984
- Tian Y, Ke S, Ke C (1996) Polymerase chain reaction for detection and quantification of Liberobacter asiaticum, the bacterium associated with huanglong-

bing (greening) of citrus in China. In: Proceedings of the 13th IOCV, da Graça JV, Moreno P, Yokomi RK (Eds), University of California, Riverside, pp 252-257

- Tirtawidjaja S (1981) Insect, dodder and seed transmission of citrus vein phloem degeneration (CVPD). In: 4th International Citrus Congress, Tokyo International Society of Citriculture, pp 469-471
- Villechanoux S, Garnier M, Renaudin J, Bové JM (1992) Detection of several strains of the bacterium-like organism of citrus greening disease by DNA probes. *Current Microbiology* 26, 161-166
- Wang X, Seed B (2006) High-throughput primer and probe design. In: Dorak MT (Ed) Real-time PCR, Taylor & Francis Group, New York, pp 93-196
- Wang Z, Yin Y, Hu H, Yuan Q, Peng G, Xia Y (2006) Development and application of molecular-based diagnosis for 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus', the causal pathogen of citrus huanglongbing. Plant Pathology 55, 630-638
- Weisburg WG, Barns SM, Pelletier DA, Lane DJ (1991) 16S ribosomal DNA amplification for phylogenetic study. *Journal of Bacteriology* 173, 697-703
- Zeeman SC, Smith SM, Smith AM (2007) The diurnal metabolism of leaf starch. *Biochemical Journal* 401, 13-28
- Zhou LJ, Gabriel DW, Duan YP, Halbert SE, Dixon WN (2007) First report of dodder transmission of huanglongbing from naturally infected *Murraya paniculata* to citrus. *Plant Disease* **91**, 227